No. 22-723

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Dec 05 2022 03:38PM EST Transaction ID 68508601

**CHARLESTON** 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE REPUBLICAN PARTY OF OHIO COUNTY WEST VIRGINIA, ELGINE McARDLE, ROBERT LUCHETTI, GREGORY WILLIAM SMITH, GEORGE CRAIG MEYER, CARLEE J. DITTMAR, DEBORAH MARIE SMITH, and FAITH ELIZABETH MEYER., Petitioners

**CASE NO. 22-723** 

v.

ADOLPH SANTORINE, JR., Respondent.

#### FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF OHIO COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA

#### APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Of Counsel for the Petitioner/Appellant

Elgine Heceta McArdle, Esquire W.V. I.D. No. 6249 MCARDLE LAW OFFICE 2139 Market Street Wheeling, WV 26003 No. 22-723

#### **Assignments of Error**

Whether the Circuit Court abused its discretion in granting Santorine's petition for writ of mandamus where 1) he failed to prove a legal right to be seated on the OCREC, 2) the OCREC had no legal duty to seat him, and 3) he failed to pursue alternative and adequate remedies to achieve placement on the OCREC

#### **Summary of Argument**

Santorine's petition for writ of mandamus alleged that he had a clear legal right to be seated and serve on the OCREC. He claimed that since he was duly elected in Magisterial District 2, and the County Commission certified the election results, mandamus relief should issue to direct the OCREC to seat him on the committee.

Unfortunately, no fact or law supports that Santorine, whose physical address placed him in Magisterial District 1 from December 2021 through the date of the primary election on May 10, 2022, was eligible to serve in a district where he did not reside. Santorine failed to prove that he resided in Magisterial District 2 on the date of filing through the date of election.

The facts and law in this case placed Santorine's residence in Magisterial District 1 from the date of filing up to and including the day of the primary election on May 10, 2022. No legal duty exists to permit an elected individual to serve in a county or district in which they do not reside. Furthermore, Santorine had alternative and adequate remedies to be seated and serve on the OCREC but blatantly refused to pursue or accept those alternatives. Without satisfying the simultaneous coexistence of all three requirements for mandamus relief, the Circuit court abused its discretion in granting Santorine's Petition for Writ of Mandamus.

#### Standard of Review

"The standard of appellate review of a circuit court's order granting relief through the extraordinary writ of mandamus is de novo." Syl. Pt. 1, *Staten v. Dean*, 195 W. Va. 57, 464 S.E.2d 576(1995). "A writ of mandamus will not issue unless three elements coexist--(1) a clear legal right in the Santorine to the relief sought; (2) a legal duty on the part of respondent to do the thing which the Santorine seeks to compel; and (3) the absence of another adequate remedy." Syl. Pt. 2, *State ex rel. Kucera v. City of Wheeling*, 153 W.Va. 538, 170 S.E.2d 367 (1969).

#### Statement of Facts

Dolph Santorine, (hereinafter "Santorine"), resides at 134 Falls Church Road, Wheeling, Ohio County, West Virginia. [Appendix p. 227] In January, 2022, Santorine timely filed the requisite forms seeking election for a seat on the Ohio County Republican Executive Committee (hereinafter "OCREC") representing Magisterial District 2. On May 10, 2022, the day of the primary election, Santorine went to his redesignated precinct<sup>1</sup> in Magisterial District 1 to cast his votes but did not see his name on the ballot. [Appendix p. 178-179] Redistricting had placed Santorine's address of 134 Falls Church Road, Wheeling, Ohio County, West Virginia within Magisterial District 1 as of December 31, 2021. [Appendix p. 182-183, 186-187, 189-191]

On May 16, 2022, the Ohio County Commission conducted a canvass and determined that Santorine had been received the most votes for election to the OCREC within Magisterial District 2. [Appendix p. 233] That same day, Santorine sent a letter to the OCREC demanding that he be seated on the OCREC representing Magisterial District 2. [Appendix p. 237] In response thereto, the OCREC sent Santorine a letter indicating that while Santorine received the most votes in Magisterial District 2, he could not be seated in Magisterial District 2 because by law he resided

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In April, 2022, the Ohio County Commission sent Santorine notice that his precinct had changed.

in Magisterial District 1. The OCREC letter also offered Santorine a vacant seat on the OCREC within Magisterial District 1. [Appendix p. 238-239] Santorine refused the alternative remedy to be seated on the OCREC and instead filed a Complaint for Mandamus relief in the Circuit Court of Ohio County against the OCREC chair, all its individual members, as well as the OCREC as an organization. [Appendix p. 1-11]

On June 27, 2022, the OCREC, its individual members and the Chair filed a Motion to Dismiss the Complaint for Mandamus. [Appendix p. 12-19] On July 11, 2022, a hearing on the Complaint for Mandamus took place before the Honorable David J. Sims, [Appendix p. 157-226] and on August 3, 2022, granted in part the Complaint for Mandamus directing the OCREC to seat Santorine on the OCREC in Magisterial District 2 [Appendix p. 57-68]. From this order, the OCREC timely filed its Notice of Appeal on September 2, 2022.

Dolph Santorine registered to run for the OCREC in Magisterial District 2; his name appeared on the ballot on Magisterial District 2. Dolph Santorine by his own admission voted in a precinct located in Magisterial District 1, redistricting placed his address of 134 Falls Church Road in Magisterial District 1

#### Adolph Santorine Testimony [Appendix pp. 195-214]

- a. Santorine testified under oath that he recognized that it is the candidate's sole responsibility to register in the correct district. "It is on the form to register for candidacy."
- b. Santorine testified that he relied on the legislative description of district lines as well as County Commission representations that he lived in Magisterial District 2.
- c. Santorine testified that he did not personally examine the district maps located at the Ohio County Commission office for the location of his Magisterial District.
- d. Santorine acknowledged that he was present at the Ohio County Republican Executive Committee's Meet and Greet on March 24, 2022.
- e. The OCREC's exhibits presented at the hearing depicted that the Meet and Greet Agenda and handouts specifically discussed how to look up and verify one's Magisterial / State Delegate / State Senatorial / US Congressional District. [Appendix pp.240-242]
- f. Santorine testified that he "did not recall" seeing the handout which was placed on every seat at the event.

- g. Santorine testified that he "did not recall" <u>the first item on the agenda</u> which specifically discussed the redistricting lines and that an individual with a computer was present at the meeting to assist in verifying one's voting districts.
- h. The WVSOS find voter information placed Santorine's address in Magisterial District 1 even as of July 18, 2022 [Appendix p. 37]

At all times relevant to the mandamus petition before the Circuit Court, the redistricting maps were available for inspection at the Courthouse within the County Commission Office.

The same was in fact available to all candidates, including Mr. Santorine, who negligently filled out his candidacy form in error by designating Magisterial District 2 as his residential district.

These facts were confirmed by Mr. Rodd Archie of the Ohio County Commission who testified as follows:

#### County Commission Testimony [Appendix pp. 166-192]

a. Mr. Archie testified that Santorine's address of 134 Falls Church Road was continuously in Magisterial District 1 on the following dates and that the redistricting maps were available at the Ohio County Commission office at the Ohio County Courthouse:

December 31, 2021 January 29, 2022 (filing deadline for primary election) May 10, 2022 (date of primary)

- b. Mr. Archie testified that *only after the primary election*, when Santorine indicated that he "did not see his name on the ballot," *did the Commission take steps to "correct"*Santorine's Magisterial District; however, at all times preceding the primary election, Santorine's address was in Magisterial District 1 as the County complied with the mandates of the redistricting legislation to move voters into different Magisterial Districts.
- c. Mr. Archie testified that the County sent Santorine notice that his precinct changed in April 2022

At the July 11, 2022 hearing, counsel for the OCREC presented the WVSEC Bylaws which recognizes the candidates' residential district as that determined by State Law. [Appendix p. 249] The evidence presented at the hearing demonstrated that the redistricting redefined Dolph Santorine's magisterial district. The WVSEC bylaws specifically provide at Article XV that:

#### ARTICLE XV - COUNTY EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES

The County Executive Committee's authority is exclusive and shall include the managing and directing of Party affairs in their respective county including the collection and disbursement of Party funds; the promotion of campaigns of Republican candidates who represent their county at the national, state and local levels and the recruitment of poll workers that will represent the Republican Party on Election Day and ensure the integrity of elections.

Section 1. Membership: The membership of each County Executive Committee shall consist of the elected members of the County Executive Committee who are geographically distributed throughout the county as determined by State Law and directed by the County Clerk of the county, elected by the Republican voters on the primary election ballot during each non-Presidential election year and the County Officers.

At all times relevant to the granting of the mandamus, both the county and the State maps placed Santorine's address of 134 Falls Church Road, Wheeling, West Virginia within Magisterial District 1. On August 4, 2022, in accord with the Court's order, the OCREC met and appointed Santorine to the vacant seat in Magisterial District 1; Santorine was present for the meeting, responded to roll call and participated in the selection of a new Chairman. After the certification of the election, the Ohio County Commission reversed its placement of Santorine in Magisterial District 1 sometime in June, 2022. [Appendix pp. 191-192] However, the State maps were not revised to place Santorine into Magisterial District 2 until August 29, 2022 [Appendix p. 107] whereupon the OCREC notified Santorine of his placement on the OCREC to serve Magisterial District 2.

#### ARGUMENT

## THE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN GRANTING THE WRIT OF MANDAMUS ISSUED ON AUGUST 3, 2022

It is well settled law that "[a] writ of mandamus will not issue unless three elements coexist -- (1) a clear legal right in the Santorine to the relief sought; (2) a legal duty on the part of respondent to do the thing which the Santorine seeks to compel; and (3) the absence of another adequate remedy." Syllabus Point 2, State ex rel. Kucera v. City of Wheeling, 153 W.Va. 538, 170

S.E.2d 367 (1969). *In accord*, Syllabus Point 1, *State ex rel. Billy Ray C. v. Skaff*, 190 W.Va. 504, 438 S.E.2d 847 (1993); Syllabus Point 1, *Smith v. West Virginia State Board of Education*, 170 W.Va. 593, 295 S.E.2d 680 (1982). A *de novo* review by this Court support reversal of the Circuit Court's order granting mandamus relief where Santorine failed to establish any of the elements required for mandamus relief much less prove that all three elements simultaneously existed.

A.

Santorine failed to establish a clear legal right to be seated to serve the Second Magisterial District on the OCREC.

To prevail in this appeal, Santorine must first establish that the record supports a <u>clear legal</u> <u>right</u> to the relief sought. The record fails to support a <u>clear legal right to serve on the OCREC</u> <u>because Santorine failed to establish that he resided in Magisterial District 2 on the day he filed</u> <u>and the day he was elected.</u> The only witness presented by Santorine in the Court below testified that:

a. Mr. Archie testified that Santorine's address of 134 Falls Church Road was continuously in Magisterial District 1 on the following dates and that the redistricting maps were available at the Ohio County Commission office at the Ohio County Courthouse:

December 31, 2021 January 29, 2022 (filing deadline for primary election) May 10, 2022 (date of primary)

b. Mr. Archie testified that only after the primary election, when Santorine indicated that he "did not see his name on the ballot," did the Commission take steps to "correct" Santorine's Magisterial District; however, at all times preceding the primary election, Santorine's address was in Magisterial District 1 as the County complied with the mandates of the redistricting legislation to move voters into different Magisterial Districts.

What the record demonstrates is that confusion existed as to which Magisterial District Santorine actually lived. In fact, a hearing was needed to sort it out. Even after the hearing, confusion remained as to which Magisterial District Santorine lived with the State not placing Santorine back

into Magisterial District 2 until late August, 2022 ~ long after Santorine sought mandamus relief. Suffice it to say that nothing was "clear" about Santorine's residential address throughout the primary election cycle. What is "clear" is that on May 10, 2022, Santorine voted in Magisterial District 1 while his name appeared for election on the Magisterial District 2 ballot. Without the ability to prove that he "clearly" lived in Magisterial District 2, Santorine failed to prove the legal residency required to serve in the district to which he was elected.

B.

The OCREC had no legal duty to seat an individual to an office in which the individual did not reside.

Having failed to prove legal residency in Magisterial District 2 to which he was elected, Santorine cannot establish that the OCREC had a legal duty to seat him in Magisterial District 2. Neither the West Virginia State Executive Committee (hereinafter the "WVSEC") Bylaws nor state code permit an individual to serve in a district in which they do not reside.

The WVSEC Bylaws defines a candidates' district as that determined by State Law. The WVSEC bylaws specifically provide at Article XV that:

#### ARTICLE XV - COUNTY EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES

The County Executive Committee's authority is exclusive and shall include the managing and directing of Party affairs in their respective county including the collection and disbursement of Party funds; the promotion of campaigns of Republican candidates who represent their county at the national, state and local levels and the recruitment of poll workers that will represent the Republican Party on Election Day and ensure the integrity of elections.

Section 1. Membership: The <u>membership of each County Executive Committee shall</u> <u>consist of the elected members</u> of the County Executive Committee who are <u>geographically distributed throughout the county as determined by State Law and directed by the County Clerk of the county</u>, elected by the Republican voters on the primary election ballot during each non-Presidential election year and the County Officers.

Furthermore, State Code defines residence of Officers in W. Va. Code § 6-5-4 (eff. 1909) specifically defines the residence of Officers as follows:

ARTICLE 5. TERMS OF OFFICE; MATTERS AFFECTING THE RIGHT TO HOLD OFFICE.

§6-5-4. Residence of officers states in pertinent part that:

... <u>Every county</u> and district <u>officer</u>, except the prosecuting attorney, <u>shall, during his</u> <u>continuance in office, reside in the county or district for which he was elected</u>....

On the date he was elected to the OCREC in Magisterial District 2, both the County and the State recognized Santorine as a resident of Magisterial District 1. The record is unequivocal on that point. As such, the OCREC had no legal duty to seat Santorine on the OCREC in Magisterial District 2 based upon either its own bylaws or under West Virginia State Code.

Notwithstanding his inability to establish a legal duty for the OCREC to act, additional caselaw supports that the Circuit Court had no jurisdiction to interfere with the OCREC, acting within its own administrative capacity to regulate its committee.

C.

Neither the Committee members individually nor collectively have a legal duty to seat Santorine contrary to its own bylaws or State law.

Santorine seeks to have this Court affirm a mandate that the OCREC place Dolph Santorine on the committee as the representative of Magisterial District 2. Unfortunately, in addition to the arguments set forth above, this Court has specifically ruled that the Court cannot do so and the seminal case on the issue is actually cited within the WVSEC bylaws (See *State ex rel. Zagula v. Grossi*, 149 W.Va. 11, 19, 138 S.E.2d 356, 361 (1964), which provides inter alia:

"it is a well settled principle that political committees have very broad powers in matters of party regulation, and the courts, respecting that power, seldom find basis of justification for interference therewith. (citations omitted)

Santorine has failed to establish a clear legal right to the relief sought, cannot establish that the OCREC had a legal duty to do that which Santorine sought as relief, and most importantly the evidence adduced at the hearing demonstrates that Santorine failed to avail himself of alternative remedies to obtain the relief sought. The above factual and legal arguments unequivocally support Respondent's position that Santorine cannot establish a clear legal right to trigger mandamus relief and the Circuit Court abused its discretion in granting the relief.

D.

#### Santorine had alternative and adequate remedies which he refused to pursue or accept.

To prevail on a writ of mandamus, three essential elements must co-exist and be satisfied, the last of which is that no other alternative remedy was available to Santorine. Attached to Santorine's complaint is a letter dated May 18, 2022, which the OCREC sent to Dolph Santorine explaining his options to be seated in the proper Magisterial District on the OCREC. That correspondence specifically provided that: [Appendix p. 239]

"Notwithstanding, the Committee's decision not to seat you on the Ohio County Republican Executive Committee in Magisterial District 2 does not preclude you from seeking an appointment to fill the vacancy in Magisterial District 1. The newly elected Committee will be accepting written letters of intent to fill all the vacant positions not filled by the election. Should you wish to be considered for an appointment to that seat, you are certainly free to send your letter of intent and request to fill the vacancy in Magisterial District 1 on or before June 8, 2022, to my email and I will forward it to the committee for further processing.

The newly elected committee will meet and elect officers soon. The opportunity to fill all vacancies will be open to all Ohio County residents who meet the residency requirements under the same terms. As

conservatives, we seek to abide by the letter of the law but do not seek to preclude your efforts to contribute to the party.

Santorine failed to avail himself of an alternative remedy to achieve the relief sought in his petition and instead opted for litigation as well as seek fees and costs from the Committee, a claim which is not supported in law. See Graf v. Frame, 352 S.E.2d 31 (W. Va. 1986), Syllabus Pt. 5, wherein this Court stated that "[o]rdinarily, in mandamus proceedings, costs [and reasonable attorney fees] will not be awarded against a public officer who is honestly and in good faith endeavoring to perform his duty as he conceives it to be." Santorine's testimony that he would not have prevailed on such an application is without merit as the test is not whether he would have prevailed but whether an alternate remedy was available. Santorine's speculation that he would not have prevailed is contrary to the record which specifically indicates offers to place him on the OCREC.

Santorine was provided a remedy that was fully commensurate with the mandamus relief he seeks. By his own admission, he failed to avail himself of the alternative of applying for the vacant position where his physical address is in Magisterial District 1. Instead, Santorine chose to file a Complaint for Mandamus relief wherein not a single element could be proven or was proven.

#### CONCLUSION

Santorine failed to prove any of the three elements required for a mandamus relief much less that any of them co-existed in this case. As such, the Circuit Court's order granting mandamus relief must be reversed.

#### **Statement Regarding Oral Argument**

If the Court determines that oral argument is necessary, this case is appropriate for a Rule 19 argument and disposition by memorandum decision.