IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS 12:14PM EST OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Dec 21 2022 **Transaction ID 68695711**

CHARLESTON

DOCKET NO. 22-723

Executive Committee of the Republican Party of Ohio County, West Virginia, Elgine McArdle, Robert Luchetti, Gregory William Smith, George Craig Meyer, Carlee J. Dittmar, Deborah Marie Smith an Faith Elizabeth Meyer,

Appellants

Adolph Santorine Jr., Appellee

BRIEF OF APPELLEE, ADOLPH SANTORINE, JR.

Martin P. Sheehan, Esq. W.Va. Bar No. 4812

Counsel for Appellee Adolph Santorine, Jr.

Sheehan & Associates, PLLC Suite 200 1 Community Street Wheeling, WV 26003 (304) 232-1064 (304) 232-1066 (fax) Martin@MSheehanLaw.net Paralegal@MSheehanLaw.net

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

Summary of the Argument

The applicable statute governing appeals requires an appeal to be from a final order.

When a Circuit Court grants some relief, but does not address a timely request for an award of attorney's fees and costs, the order appealed from does not appear to be final.

Judge Simms made no clearly erroneous finding of fact, or error of law in deciding that Mr. Santorine, the person declared to have been elected to a seat on the Executive Committee of the Republican Party of Ohio County from Magisterial District II by the Ohio County Commission was entitled to be seated on the Committee for that area. No timely challenge to Mr. Santorine's qualifications or his election was ever made. The Committee is without sufficient deference to ignore election results in those circumstances.

Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision

Adolph Santorine, Jr. does not believe that oral argument is necessary in this case. If the Court would schedule oral argument, then Mr. Santorine believes oral argument should be conducted under W.Va. Rule of Appellate Procedure 19 instead of W.Va. Rule of Appellate Procedure 20.

Argument

I. Final Order

In order to promote the orderly appeal of decisions of a Circuit Court, it has been recognized that ordinarily an appeal will only lie from a final order. West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 5 (a) governs "all appeals from a circuit court final judgment or other appealable order in a civil or criminal case as set forth in W. Va. Code § 58-5-1, et seq."

That rule and the statutory provision require an appeal to be from a "final order." This has long been the rule in West Virginia. See State ex rel Koontz v. Smith, 133 W.Va. 635, 57 S.E.2d 532 (1950); Pittsburgh Elevator Co. v. West Virginia Board of Regents, 172 W.Va. 743, 310 S.E.2d 675 (1983); Durm v. Heck's, Inc., 184 W.Va. 562, 401 S.E.2d 908 (1991); Sipp v. Yeage, 194 W.Va. 66, 459 S.E.2d 343 (1995); James M.B. v. Carolyn M., 193 W.Va. 289, 456 S.E.2d 16 (1995); Province v. Province, 196 W.Va. 473, 473 S.E.2d 894 (1996); Walker v. Option One Mortgage Corp., 220 W.Va. 660, 649 S.E.2d 233 (2007); Credit Acceptance Corp v. Front, 231 W.Va. 518, 745 S.E.2d 556 (2013); and Erie Insurance Co. v. Dolly, ___ W.Va. ___ 811 S.E.2d 875 (2018).

The requirement of a final order is also a feature of federal law. 28 U.S.C. § 1291. <u>Debuit v Harwell Enterprises</u>, Inc., 540 F.2d 690 (4th Cir. 1976)(barring late filed claim for attorney's fees on the grounds a final order had previously been entered.); and <u>United States v. Holland</u>, 214 F.3d 523 (4th Cir. 2000).

The open question in West Virginia is whether or not an order that disposes of all issues between the parties,³ except for a request for an award of attorney's fees and expenses, is a final order, or whether such an order is not final because the issue of attorney's fees remains unresolved. Petitioners indicated that the appeal was not from a final order in documents filed with this Court.

³ Mr. Santorine acknowledges that the decision of Circuit Court Judge Simms did resolve all issues except attorney's fees.

The motion for contempt is clearly part of a separate matter pertaining to enforcement of an otherwise final judgment.

The United States Supreme Court considered this issue in the context of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 59(e) in White v. New Hampshire Department of Employment Security, 455 U.S. 445 (1981). There the Court held that the 10 day rule for amending a judgment did not apply to requests for attorney's fees and left open the possibility that time limits might be established by local rules. Some part of that analysis suggested that attorney's fees were somewhat collateral to the main issues.

This question remains unresolved as a matter of West Virginia law. In light of the acknowledgment by Respondents, now Appellants, that the order was not a final order, Mr. Santorine urges that this appeal be dismissed for want of a final order.

II. Executive Committees of Political Parties

The Respondents, now the Appellants, have purported to present a different issue for appeal than those presented by Mr. Santorine. The Respondent's appear to assert that the Executive Committee of any County in West Virginia enjoys wide discretion. In many respects, Mr. Santorine agrees.

Where the parties part company is that Appellants insist that wide discretion includes the ability to override election laws that vest the conduct of elections and the determination of who won elections, etc., in specific government officials, subject to challenges as allowed by applicable statutes. Mr. Santorine denies any such discretion exists. In his view, election law supplies the entire universe of law applicable to election to an Executive Committee. No Executive Committee has the power to disregard election results.

Executive Committees are creatures of statute. Such Committees are created in West Virginia by W. Va. Code § 3-1-9.

Election to said Committees is controlled by that provision.

In the ordinary course of elections, there is a process for voting. See generally, W. Va. Code § 3-1-3, § 3-1-34, and §3-2-3. Voters are allocated among precincts, precincts are organized to permit orderly elections, and for precincts to be changed from time to time. W. Va. Code § 3-1-5 and § 3-1-7. Precincts are generally then grouped so that voters for offices to be filled by election are assigned to relevant offices.

There is a process for persons to become candidates for election to various offices. W. Va. Code § 3-5-8. As part of the process for balloting, sample ballots are published, so that any errors may be timely corrected. W. Va. Code § 3-5-10.

There is a process for canvassing those votes. W. Va. Code § 3-5-17 and §3-6-9. There is a process for certification of those votes. W. Va. Code § 3-6-9 and -10. There is a process for challenging election outcomes. W. Va. Code § 3-7-6.

Mr. Santorine would suggest that the broad discretion of an Executive Committee does not include any discretion as it pertains to any matter committed to election law. Said matters are simply committed to other applicable laws, including those described above. The Committee has no discretion in matters governed by other laws.

As a consequence the lack of discretion caused the Mandamus Petition here to be a proper request for relief against persons without discretion and obligated to follow the law.

When vacancies arise on the Executive Committee between elections, members of said Committees enjoy wide discretion to fill such vacancies. <u>State ex rel. Zagula v. Grossi</u>, 149 W.Va. 11, 138 S.E.2d 356 (1964). The position of Respondents, that Executive Committees have unbridled authority and can override provisions of law which call for filling vacancies by a

properly conducted election, is irresponsible. It is contrary to the principle that West Virginia citizens are governed by laws and not by the whims of those who would purport to impose their will. It is a claim without foundation, and without any limiting principle. This is not, and should not become, the law.

III. Findings of Fact

The Ohio County Commission used every effort to conduct an error free elections in May of 2022. That said, mistakes sometimes happen. In this particular situation, the County Commission, the entity responsible for conducting that election, discovered an anomaly after the voting had occurred.

As a consequence, the Commission analyzed what had occurred regarding the election of members of the Executive Committee of the Republican Party of Ohio County. The Commission determined that a mapping error, never approved by the County Commission, had inadvertently been used in some ways.

The mapping error somehow was used to conduct the voting.⁴ Some voters, who should have voted in Magisterial District II, instead were given ballots for Magisterial District I. However, because the margin of victory for Mr. Santorine was sufficient, the inadvertent error that did occur, made no difference in the outcome. Mr. Santorine, who was a voter and resident of Magistrate District II, was elected to the Committee to represent that area.

⁴ Appellants have seemed to insist that some records of the Secretary of State concerning Mr. Santorine had identified him as being in Magisterial District I at the time of the election.

No evidence concerning how the mapping error, what appears to have been an unapproved change to precincts not authorized by the County Commission, was, or could have become, part of the records of the Secretary of State has ever been articulated.

There was no error in any fact finding by Judge Simms that lead to that conclusion. The Committee and its members have not identified any purported errors in fact finding. There was no abuse of discretion by Judge Simms in that regard.

IV. Conclusions of Law

The Circuit Court had jurisdiction over this petition for mandamus pursuant to W. Va. Code § 3-1-45, § 53-3-1; and § 53-3-2. Venue was proper in Ohio County, West Virginia pursuant to W. Va. Code § 53-3-2.

The issues raised herein were a proper subject for resolution by a petition for mandamus.

State ex rel. Manchin v. Lively, 170 W.Va. 672, 295 S.E.2d 912 (W. Va. 1982); State ex rel.

Maloney v. McCartney, 159 W.Va. 513, 223 S.E.2d 607 (1976); State ex rel. Boley v. Tennant,

228 W.Va. 812, 724 S.E.2d 783 (W. Va. 2012) and MacCorkle v. Hechler, 183 W.Va. 105, 394 S.E.2d 89 (1990).

Once precinct lines have been established, precinct boundaries may only be changed as set forth in W. Va. Code § 3-1-7. Among the requirements of W. Va. Code § 3-1-7(b), any change in precinct boundary lines must be published as a Class II legal advertisement.

46. The Ohio County Commission did not provide notice to voters who would have been affected by a change in precincts as would have been required by W. Va. Code § 3-1-7(c). Among the requirements of W. Va. Code § 3-1-7, precinct boundary changes shall be maintained in an election precinct record. W. Va. Code § 3-1-7(c). The lack of approval of any change in the precinct to which Mr. Santorine was assigned for voting at the May 2022 primary by the Ohio County Commission caused the boundaries of Magisterial District II to remain the same as such boundaries had been defined historically and prior to the primary election of 2022.

Mr. Santorine was therefore domiciled in Magisterial District II at all relevant times for the primary election of May 2022.⁵

Neither did Judge Simms make any clearly erroneous error of law. The assertion that the Committee has unlimited discretion to disregard election law is preposterous and unsupported by any logical or coherent argument. Instead of adopting such a view, Judge Simms made a series of incremental findings outlining applicable law, and applying said law, to the facts he determined existed.

No specific conclusion of law by Judge Simms has been suggested to be erroneous in any way.

Conclusion

WHEREFORE, Mr. Santorine asks that this Court consider whether an order which resolves issues, but leaves open whether attorney's fees and expenses should be awarded is a final order. If not, this appeal should be dismissed.

On the remaining merits, Mr. Santorine asks that the conclusions of law reached by Judge Simms, and the findings of fact determined by him be affirmed.